FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/22/2025 4:50 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Case #: 1042213

No. 394514

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEVIN CHRISTOPHER KIENOW, Appellant,

v.

TERESA A DITTENTHOLER KIENOW, Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Devin Kienow Petitioner

I.	Introduction
II.	Petitioner for Discretionary Review1
	A. Identity of Petitioner1
	B. Court of Appeals1
	C. Issues Presented
	D. Statement of the Case
	E. Argument3
	F. Conclusion23
	G. Appendix25
	a. Decision
	b. Decision on Motion for Reconsideration.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
CASES
<i>Brett v Martin,</i> 9 Wn. App. 2d 303, 445 P.3d 568 (2019)
In re Marriage of Furrow, 115 Wn. App. 661, 63 P.3d 821 (2003)7
Kinney v. Cook, 150 Wn. App. 187, 208 P.3d 1 (2009)19
Leda v. Whisnand, 150 Wn. App. 69, 207 P.3d 468 (2009)14
Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014)
Zellmer v Zellmer, 164 Wn.2d 147, 188 P.3d 497 (2008)16

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

(Continued)

Page(s)
STATUTES
Washington Revised Code § 4.28.10011, 20
Washington Revised Code § 26.18.050
Washington Revised Code § 59.18.38014
COURT RULES CR 4
LOCAL RULES
Yakima County Local Family Law Rules (2020)13

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Devin Kienow ("Kienow") asks this Court to accept review of *In re: Kienow*. Kienow was the petitioner at the trial court, and the appellant at the court of appeals.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Kienow asks for review of service on a show cause order. In the alternative, Kienow asks for review of the frivolous finding and the consequent award of attorney's fees.

The court of appeals decision was filed March 11, 2025. The order on motion for reconsideration was filed on April 22, 2025.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. A show cause order requires the nonmoving party to appear at a specific date and time. The superior court ordered a show cause order to be served only by email. Is email service sufficient for a show

cause order?

2. The nonmoving party is entitled to present oral argument at the show cause hearing. The superior court barred Kienow's oral argument on two material issues. Should Kienow's oral argument have been barred?

In the alternative

3. Raising at least one debatable issue bars a frivolous finding, and any doubt lands in favor of the appellant. Kienow raised at least one debatable issue. Should the finding of frivolousness and the corresponding award of attorney's fees should be reversed.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dittentholer went to the ex parte superior court.

Kienow was not present. The ex parte superior court granted the order to show cause. CP 45 -46. And that order to show cause contained *additional* orders, to include the deprivation of property: it ordered the phone and passport to Dittentholer. CP 46, § 3.2, 3.3.

The superior court also granted the order allowing service solely by email. CP 43 – 44. The superior court did not authorize any other means of alternative service. *Id*.

At the September 30th, 2022 show cause hearing,

Kienow argued lack of personal service. CP 78 – 85; CP

144, ll. 13 – 20; RP, Sept. 30, 2022, p. 10, ll. 21 – 25.

The superior court then barred oral argument for Kienow regarding the phone and tuition miscalculation. It erroneously awarded Dittentholer \$9,362.48. CP 87. The superior court affirmed the ex parte order that Kienow must surrender the phone and a passport. CP 86.

E. ARGUMENT

The court of appeals is a highly respected and exceptionally busy court, tasked with making complex decisions with care and precision. It disagreed with

Kienow's arguments and also concluded that the appeal was frivolous.

The issues presented in this petition meet the standard for governing acceptance of review by this Court. This Court should hear this appeal for discretionary review.

1. Service of a show cause order by email is not sufficient.

Kienow objected to service of the September 30, 2022 show cause order. Although the court of appeals concluded that he did not object to personal service, its ruling relied on a prior show cause order—not the September 30, 2022 order at issue here. In fact, Kienow specifically challenged the sufficiency of service for the September 30, 2022 show cause order. Appellant's Br., pp. 11, 14, 39, 55. This Court reviews questions of service de

novo. *See Scanlan v. Townsend*, 181 Wn.2d 838, 847, 336 P.3d 1155, 1159 (2014).

A. A show cause order is specific to its date and time.

An order to show cause requires the nonmoving party to appear at a specific time and place. RCW 26.18.050(1). Each show cause order is therefore distinct and tied to its designated date and time. Once that date has passed, the petitioning party must return to the ex parte court to request a new, separate show cause order. That new order must be personally served. RCW 26.18.050(2) provides that "service of the order to show cause shall be by personal service, or in the manner provided in the civil rules of superior court or applicable statute."

Here, Dittentholer missed two court dates because she did not allow sufficient time for service. Appellant's Br., p. 21. In effect, the prior show cause orders expired.

Consequently, she returned to the ex parte court and sought a new, separate show cause order for September 30, 2022. This order not only set a new date and time but also included novel orders that were not part of the previous orders. Appellant's Br., p. 9; CP 46(3)(2-3) (ordering the iPhone and passport to be returned to Ms. Dittentholer). Thus, the September 30, 2022 show cause order was not a mere continuation but a distinct and separate order.

(1) Jurisdiction as Authority.

Additionally, the court of appeals correctly recognized that the superior court has continuing jurisdiction over Mr. Kienow with respect to matters like the parenting plan. But even where jurisdiction is established, the court must have proper service before it can validly enter a

specific order. Appellant's Br., p. 13. A failure of proper service deprives the court of authority to issue that particular order.

Indeed, a court's general jurisdiction is distinct from its jurisdiction—or authority—to enter a specific order. *See In re Marriage of Furrow*, 115 Wn. App. 661, 668, 63 P.3d 821, 825 (2003) (holding that jurisdiction may exist generally, but authority to enter a specific order can differ).

B. Alternative service by email service is insufficient.

(1) The basis for alternative service was arguably weak.

The court of appeals upheld Dittentholer's basis for alternative service primarily based on the declaration of her process server, appearing to accept the server's opinions at face value without scrutiny.

The court of appeals has a difficult job of deciphering the truth. But Kienow's argument that he did

not evade service is more compelling than Dittentholer's claim that he did. He parked in the adjacent lot due to ongoing construction, a detail the school has confirmed via email. Appellant's Br., p 20; CP 18 – 19. Further, he was not even aware he was being tailed by a process server. Appellant's Br., p 20.

Dittentholer's process server claimed that Kienow's parking—even after conceding that Kienow parked in the 4th street school parking lot—amounted to evasion, asserting that Kienow "attempted to avoid" service by parking there. Appellant's Br., p. 18 - 19.

Since it is implausible that someone attempting to evade service will simply move their vehicle a few feet to the next lot, given the close proximity of the two lots, CP

18 – 19, it is far more likely that a person trying to avoid service will not park in any of the school parking lots.

Therefore, weighing the facts and evidence—
including the school's email confirmation versus the
opposing server's opinion—it is more likely that Kienow
did not attempt to evade service by parking in the
authorized, adjacent school parking lot. In other words,
the facts do not support the finding of evasion.

Also, the court of appeals referenced the commissioner's later finding regarding an alleged service evasion. But the commissioner was merely repeating the same underlying allegation—not addressing a new one.

As the incident in question remains unchanged, there is still only a single allegation of evasion.

Because there was no evasion, and the reason for the failed service was Dittentholer's poor planning, Appellant's Br., p. 21, there was no basis for alternative service.

(2) Email service was insufficient

The superior court granted an order to serve the September 30, 2022 show cause order by email. The court of appeals affirmed.

Even if alternative service was proper, alternative service by email is insufficient. Although the superior court ordered email service, it was outside of its authority to do so. RCW 26.18.050(2) ("Service of the order to show cause shall be by personal service, or in the manner provided in the civil rules of superior court or applicable statute."); Appellant's Br., pp. 25 – 26; 29 (citing to *Jepsen*,

explaining that an e-mail cannot constitute substantial compliance with personal service on a party where there is no express waiver of personal service and no agreement for electronic service). Alternative service, therefore, can only be accomplished through publication or U.S. mail after proper motion. RCW 4.28.100; Appellant's Br., p. 27.

Furthermore, accepting service by email must be the result of affirmative action by the parties. In other words, if the parties intend to permit service by email, they must explicitly agree to it. Appellant's Br., p. 25. The very existence of the option to enter into an email service agreement will be rendered meaningless if email service is permitted without such an agreement.

Here, Dittentholer did not personally serve, publish, or send via U.S. mail, the show cause order for September 30, 2022. Appellant's Br., p. 30. Dittentholer served the subject show cause order *only* by email.

Appellant's Br., p. 33; CP 152, l. 21. But neither party accepted service by email. Appellant's Br. 24 – 26. If either party intended to "carry out" that they agreed to email service, the parties would have entered into an email service agreement.

By ordering service by email without the agreement of either party, the court effectively imposed an email service agreement where none existed. A court should neither create nor infer an agreement that the parties themselves did not make. Accordingly, the superior court

should have directed that the September 30, 2022, order to show cause be served by publication or by U.S. mail.

2. The nonmoving party is entitled to present oral argument at the show cause hearing.

Even if the court deems service sufficient, the nonmoving party must still be afforded the opportunity to orally contest the show cause order. Without that opportunity, the hearing itself serves no meaningful purpose.

Indeed, the purpose of providing notice of a hearing is to ensure that the nonmoving party has the opportunity to appear and present an oral defense. RCW 26.18.050. ("the obligor may appear to show cause why the relief requested should not be granted."). Even the local rule provides the nonmoving party with oral argument. *See* Yakima Cty. Super. Ct. Loc. Fam. Law R. 1(c) (requiring

"the other party to appear and show cause why certain relief should not be granted.").

An analogous show cause statute directs that a nonmoving party can respond "orally or in writing." *Leda v. Whisnand*, 150 Wn. App. 69, 79, 207 P.3d 468, 474 (2009) (citing to Landlord-Tenant Act's RCW 59.18.380).

Here, Kienow was prevented from orally defending at the show cause hearing on two material issues:

A. Determination of Physical Custody of the Phone.

- (1) At the ex parte hearing—held without Kienow present—the superior court ordered the phone to be turned over to Dittentholer without hearing any argument from Kienow
- (2) Then, at the subsequent hearing on September 30, 2022, the superior court again did not hear from

Kienow. This time, however, it went further by denying the nonmoving party any opportunity to argue for physical custody of the phone.

After brief preliminary argument on the issue of service—and without permitting any defense from Kienow—the superior court issued two rulings.

Appellant's Br., p. 41 ("The phone and passport are pretty easy. You are to give them back."). No oral argument had been presented.

The court heard only Dittentholer's arguments. As a result, Kienow was not given the opportunity to defend against the show cause order. Despite this, the superior court proceeded to rule—ordering the phone to Dittentholer—without ever allowing Kienow to present any oral argument in his defense.

(i) Additional.

Although the court of appeals stated that Kienow found the phone in a bag, that is incorrect. In fact, the phone was discovered in the hand of his minor child, actively in use, in the child's room at Kienow's residence during his residential time.

Kienow does not believe the court of appeals intended to suggest that he lacked the right to supervise his children. On the contrary, he was fully within his parental rights—and indeed, his parental responsibilities—when he investigated his child's unauthorized possession and use of the phone. That responsibility carries legal weight. *See Zellmer v. Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d 147, 161, 188 P.3d 497, 503 (2008) (affirming

that parents may face legal consequences for "willful or wanton" failure to properly supervise their children).

B. Determination of the correct tuition amount.

In addition to previously being denied any opportunity to argue, this time the superior court went further by expressly prohibiting Kienow from offering any oral response regarding the tuition issue. Appellant's Br., p. 35. In effect, the court heard argument from one party while refusing to hear from the other.

Here, the superior court miscalculated the tuition. The superior court erroneously awarded almost \$10,000 based on the upcoming school year. Appellant's Br., p. 9. But it should have only awarded Kienow's proportional share of one year of tuition: roughly \$4,000. Appellant's Br, p. 36.

Subsequently, the court further miscalculated the award, resulting in a judgment exceeding \$25,000. CP 211 §8. As a result, what began as a \$4,000 back tuition claim was erroneously transformed into a judgment of over \$25,000. Although Kienow errored and did not file an amended appeal for the \$25,000 order, CP 211 §8, this Court can correct the initial \$10,000 error. Appellant's Br., p. 9.

The court of appeals did not address the miscalculation issues in its opinion. Nonetheless, raising these substantial miscalculation concerns is far from frivolous.

In the Alternative

3. The finding of frivolousness and the corresponding award of attorney's fees should be reversed.

The court of appeals awarded attorney's fees on the

grounds that the appeal was frivolous. But the appeal was not frivolous. The mere fact that a court ultimately rejects an argument does not render that argument frivolous. *See Brett v. Martin,* 9 Wn. App. 2d 303, 316, 445 P.3d 568, 574 (2019). Far from it.

A finding of frivolousness sets a high threshold. An appeal is considered frivolous only when no debatable issues exist—meaning that the presence of even a single arguable issue defeats a claim of frivolity. Moreover, any doubt as to whether an issue is frivolous must be resolved in the appellant's favor. *See Kinney v. Cook*, 150 Wn. App. 187, 195, 208 P.3d 1, 5 (2009). Thus, a determination of frivolousness is appropriate only after clearing an exceptionally high bar.

Here, Kienow brought debatable issues, and if there are any doubts whether any point was debatable, Kienow should be given the benefit of the doubt that they were debatable.

The following are all debatable issues that Kienow brought:

A. The sufficiency of alternative service by email is a matter of legitimate debate.

No law authorizes email as a sufficient alternative method of service—particularly for a show cause order. The relevant statute explicitly permits only publication and U.S. mail as alternative means. Appellant's Br., p. 27; RCW 4.28.100; CR 4(d)(3), (4). Moreover, the show cause order itself, signed by the judge, expressly requires personal service, stating: "You must have this order, and

the paperwork you filed...*personally served* on the other party...." CP 46, ll. 20–21 (emphasis added).

Thus, the argument that a show cause order mandates personal service is at least as compelling as any argument in favor of email service. Likewise, the contention that pleadings cannot be served via email absent a prior email service agreement is similarly well-founded. In either case, whether email constitutes sufficient alternative service remains a genuinely debatable issue.

Because both alternative service by email and regular service by email present genuinely debatable issues, Kienow's argument cannot be deemed so lacking in merit as to be frivolous.

B. Whether the tuition was properly calculated remains a matter of legitimate debate.

The superior court miscalculated the tuition award. It erroneously doubled the amount owed. The court of appeals did not address the issue. Kienow seeking a review on the miscalculation of an award is a debatable issue.

C. Whether a nonmoving party may be barred from presenting oral argument at a show cause hearing is a matter of legitimate legal debate.

A nonmoving party must be permitted to orally respond at a show cause hearing. In this case, Kienow was denied the opportunity to present oral argument on two material issues.

Therefore, because a finding of frivolity cannot be made where at least one debatable issue exists—and any doubts must be resolved in favor of the appellant—and since at least one such issue has been raised, this Court

should reverse the frivolousness determination and the award of attorney's fees.

F. CONCLUSION

Service was insufficient. Because service by email is not permitted absent an agreement between the parties, the superior court lacked the authority to authorize email service. Since the September 30, 2022 show cause order was served solely by email, this Court should remand the matter to the superior court for further proceedings consistent with proper service requirements.

Alternatively, because a finding of frivolousness requires that no debatable issues be present—and at least one such issue was raised—this Court should reverse the frivolousness determination and the resulting award of attorney's fees.

This document contains 2,860 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count in RAP 18.17.