FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/2/2025 3:55 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1042213 COA No. 39451-4-III

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

In re the Marriage of:

Devin C. Kienow,

Petitioner,

and

Teresa A. Dittentholer,

Respondent.

Answer to Petition for Review

Kevin Hochhalter WSBA# 43124 Attorney for Respondent

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com

1. Introduction

Devin Kienow's petition arises from an order of contempt entered against him on September 30, 2022, finding that he had failed to pay his proportional share of educational expenses. Kienow contends that he was not properly served with all documents prior to the hearing. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected his arguments and affirmed the contempt order.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Kienow was properly served before the Sept. 30, 2022, hearing. Dittentholer accomplished personal service of process—the original contempt motion and order to show cause—on Aug. 30, 2022. When the contempt hearing was rescheduled to Sept. 30, 2022, Kienow received actual notice of the hearing with enough time to respond on the merits and be heard at the hearing. He chose to object only on procedural grounds, and his objections are without merit. The Court of Appeals

found Kienow's appeal frivolous and awarded attorney's fees to Dittentholer.

Kienow's petition fails to demonstrate that the case meets any of the criteria under RAP 13.4(b) for granting a petition for review. His arguments are without merit. This Court should deny the petition and award Dittentholer her reasonable attorney's fees for preparing this answer to the frivolous petition.

2. Statement of the Case

2.1 Kienow was ordered by the trial court to pay his proportional share of the children's educational expenses for private school.

The final Decree in Kienow and Dittentholer's divorce was entered on June 15, 2021. CP 217. The court found that Kienow engaged in abusive use of conflict. CP 236. He has engaged in a pattern of using court proceedings to harass Dittentholer and "find any little thing to make things complicated." CP 172, 236. Kienow had already been sanctioned by the trial court

for such intransigence. See In re Marriage of Kienow, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064, 2023 WL 2487486 at *8 (2023).1

The court ordered that the two children would attend St. Joseph Marquette Catholic School until they complete 8th grade. CP 244. In the Child Support Order, the parties were ordered to pay proportionate shares of the children's educational expenses. CP 232. Kienow challenged the private school requirement on appeal, but the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Kienow*, 2023 WL 2487486 at *12-13.

2.2 Kienow intentionally failed to pay his share of educational expenses.

The last time Kienow made any payment to St. Joseph was March 31, 2021, for the 2020-21 school year. CP 170, 174. Dittentholer paid \$11,637.95 to the school for the 2021-22 school year. CP 170. She

Answer to Petition for Review – 3

-

¹ The unpublished opinion in the prior appeal in this case is cited for factual background and to show issues that have already been resolved with finality.

expected total expenses for the 2022-23 school year to be \$12,112.00. CP 2-3. Those payments started to come due June 15, 2022. CP 180. Kienow did not pay, claiming he was simply unable to pay. RP 21-23. Although he had not stayed his obligation to pay while the first appeal was pending, he apparently chose not to pay, at least in part because he expected to prevail on appeal. RP 21-22; See CP 289. He did not prevail. He remains obligated to pay these legitimate educational expenses.

2.3 Dittentholer moved for contempt and personally served Kienow with the moving papers and order to show cause.

On August 17, 2022, Dittentholer filed a motion for contempt. CP 1. She sought enforcement of Kienow's obligation to pay his share of educational expenses. CP 2-3. She obtained an Order to Show Cause, setting a hearing for September 7, 2022. See CP 13-14.

On August 30, 2022, Erik Hildebrand pulled into the St. Joseph school parking lot right behind Kienow's vehicle. CP 11-12. Kienow "did not park and rather exited right away and drove north and then west away from the school." CP 12. Hildebrand parked and walked to the school, where he located Kienow parking in the school's other parking lot off N. 4th Street. CP 12. Hildebrand then personally served Kienow with the Order to Show Cause, the Motion for Contempt, and Dittentholer's supporting declaration. CP 11-12.

2.4 Kienow claimed improper service, requiring Dittentholer to make repeated attempts to correct the perceived defects until the trial court authorized service by email.

Kienow objected to receiving late notice of the Sept. 7 hearing and asked that it be stricken. CP 13-14. He admitted that he was personally served on Aug. 30. CP 16.

Anticipating Kienow's objection, Dittentholer obtained an amended show cause order on Aug. 30

setting a new hearing for Sept. 15. CP 33. She mailed the amended show cause order to Kienow, postmarked Sept. 1. CP 24-25. Kienow objected, arguing that the mailed notice was still late and that it was incomplete because he was not re-served with the original moving papers. CP 21-23.

Dittentholer returned to court, ex parte, on Sept. 15 with a motion to authorize service of a new show cause order by email, arguing that Kienow had been avoiding service and that email service would be as effective as service by mail. CP 41.

Kienow received notice of the ex parte hearing and filed a written response the same day. CP 35. The trial court entered a new show cause order, setting a hearing for Sept. 30, and an order allowing service of the show cause order by email. CP 43-46. Kienow received the new show cause order by email on Sept. 15. CP 76-77.

2.5 The trial court found that service was proper and found Kienow in contempt.

Kienow filed a written response to the motion for contempt, arguing that the court did not have authority to allow email service and that the court lacked jurisdiction because he had not been personally served. CP 72.

At the Sept. 30 hearing, the trial court held that it already had personal jurisdiction over Kienow from the original divorce petition. RP 11.2 The trial court noted that Kienow had actual notice of the coming hearing. RP 11. The trial court reasoned that, where the court had found that Kienow was evading service, and it was known that he had actual notice of the contempt motion and scheduled hearings, the order authorizing service of the latest show cause order by email was appropriate. RP 12.

The trial court found Kienow in contempt for failing to pay the educational expenses. RP 26; CP 87.

Kienow moved for revision. CP 88. The trial court denied the motion. CP 205. Kienow appealed.

2.6 The Court of Appeals held that service was proper and affirmed the trial court's contempt order.

The Court of Appeals rejected Kienow's argument that personal service of all motion documents was required each time Dittentholer rescheduled the hearing on her contempt motion. Opinion at 9-13.

The Court held that the trial court had continuing personal jurisdiction over Kienow to enforce the child support order, originating when he was personally served with the original petition for divorce. Opinion at 10 (citing *State v. Ralph Williams' N. W. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 87 Wn.2d 327, 331-32, 553 P.2d 442 (1976); RCW 26.18.040).

The Court further held that Kienow was properly served with the original show cause order and supporting documents. Opinion at 11. The Court rejected Kienow's argument that amended show cause

orders must also be personally served, and held that after proper service of the original "process," any subsequent documents in the matter could be served by mail under CR 5(b)(2). Opinion at 11-12. The Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing email service as a substitute for mail service under CR 5(b)(2). Opinion at 12.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the contempt order on the merits, holding the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Kienow in contempt for failure to pay education expenses where Kienow had failed to show that he exercised due diligence to seek to comply with the child support order. Opinion at 13-14.

The Court of Appeals held that Kienow's appeal was frivolous and granted Dittentholer's request for an award of appellate attorney's fees. Opinion at 20-21.

3. Argument

This Court should deny Kienow's petition for review. He has failed to demonstrate that the case meets any of the criteria under RAP 13.4(b). His arguments of error are without merit. This Court should award Dittentholer her reasonable attorney's fees for preparing this answer to the frivolous petition.

3.1 Kienow's petition fails to address or establish any of the criteria for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b).

A petition for review will only be accepted when the case meets the criteria provided in RAP 13.4(b). Those criteria include that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a published decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals; that it involves a significant question of constitutional law; or that it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

Kienow's petition fails to do so much as acknowledge the existence of these criteria. His petition does not mention RAP 13.4(b), does not set forth the criteria, and does not provide any argument for how the case meets any of the criteria. For this failure alone, the petition should be denied.

The case does not meet any of the criteria.

Kienow does not cite to any published opinion or other authority that is in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. He makes no constitutional arguments in his petition. And he does not show that the issues in the case are anything more than his own personal crusade to make Dittentholer's life more difficult. There are no conflicting precedents, no constitutional questions, and no issues of substantial public interest. This Court should deny the petition.

3.2 Kienow's claims of error are without merit.

Kienow's claims of error are without merit. He does not cite any authority to support his central argument that each amended show cause order was an entirely separate matter requiring new personal service of all documents. See Petition at 5-6. He does not cite any authority to support his argument that a court cannot order service by email as a substitute for service by mail under CR 5(b). See Petition at 10-12. He improperly asks this Court to re-weigh the trial court's finding—supported by substantial evidence that he was evading service. See Petition at 7-9. He fails to show any error in the Court of Appeals' interpretation and application of the law and court rules in holding that he was properly served for the Sept. 30 hearing.

Kienow's argument that the trial court was required to allow him to present oral argument on the merits at the hearing is an entirely new legal theory,

argued for the first time in this petition. At the trial court, he argued that he *could not respond on the merits* because he was not properly served with the motion and declaration. At the Court of Appeals, he held to that legal theory and continued to argue that the lack of "proper service" prejudiced him because he allegedly could not respond on the merits because he did not receive the motion and declaration at the same time as everything else. Br. of App. 34-36. This new argument that he had a right to present oral argument was not raised in the trial court or at the court of appeals and should be disregarded under RAP 2.5(a).

Even if there were some error in not allowing
Kienow to provide oral argument on the merits at the
hearing, any error was invited by Kienow's own
arguments. He made the strategic choice to argue
about service only and pretend that he did not know
what the issues on the merits were. But he had been
personally served with the documents on the merits.

He knew what the issues were. He could have responded on the merits, but he chose to put all his eggs in the service basket. He cannot now complain about the results of his own strategic choice. *See Davis v. Globe Mach. Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 102 Wn.2d 68, 77, 684 P.2d 692 (1984) ("A party cannot properly seek review of an alleged error which the party invited.").

3.3 This Court should award Dittentholer her reasonable attorney's fees for preparing this answer to Kienow's petition.

Kienow's appeal was frivolous, and so is his petition for review. His briefs to the Court of Appeals failed to present any debatable issues. He now argues that at least some of the issues were theoretically debatable. But his briefing failed to establish any grounds for debate on the issues he raised. He fails again here.

Kienow failed to present any creditable argument that the trial court had misinterpreted or misapplied

the law and court rules or had abused its discretion in any way in entering the contempt order against him. Just because Kienow was able to concoct some arguments that made sense in his own mind does not mean that the issues were debatable. The Court of Appeals reasonably and correctly discerned that Kienow's arguments were entirely devoid of merit and had no possibility of reversal. See Opinion at 20-21 (citing RAP 18.9; Advocs. for Responsible Dev. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd., 170 Wn.2d 577, 580, 245 P.3d 764 (2010)). The appeal was thus frivolous, and the Court of Appeals rightly awarded Dittentholer her reasonable appellate attorney's fees.

This Court should do the same. Kienow's petition is frivolous. It presents no debatable issues and has no possibility of success. Kienow entirely fails to address the criteria for this Court to accept review. He cites no authorities to contradict the Court of Appeals Opinion. His arguments on the merits are unsupported by

authority and fail to present debatable issues. Some are even in direct opposition to positions he took below and must be disregarded as invited error or improperly raised for the first time at this late stage. The petition is frivolous and should be sanctioned under **RAP 18.9**.

Alternatively, this Court should award
Dittentholer's reasonable attorney's fees under
RCW 7.21.030(3), which authorizes the court to order a
person found in contempt to pay "any costs incurred in
connection with the contempt proceeding, including
reasonable attorney's fees." Kienow was found in
contempt, and this petition is an extension of those
contempt proceedings. The Court should award
Dittentholer her attorney's fees in preparing this
answer to the petition.

4. Conclusion

Kienow has failed to establish that the Court of Appeals decision in this case meets any of the criteria for this Court to accept review. His arguments are without merit. This Court should award Dittentholer's reasonable attorney's fees in preparing this answer, either under RAP 18.9 or RCW 7.21.030(3).

I certify that this document contains 2,446 words.

Submitted this 2nd day of July, 2025.